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We agree with the State that the societal of arson isimpact less
fire,personwhen a an home,starts isolated damaging singlea than

a personwhen a high-poweredcauses inexplosion the business
district city. 634:1, 11(a)of a Accordingly, readingour of RSA

thepermits prosecutedformer arsonist to be on one count for
damage structure,to occupiedone and the latter arsonist to be

forprosecuted manyas as therecounts are occupied structures
damaged.

case,In this the occupied structure is the atbuilding 19
Street,Pleasant which was fordesigned carrying on business. That

the structure contained the of two separatebusinesses leaseholders
is irrelevant the singleunder statute’s definition of a occupied

only “occupiedstructure. There was damagedone structure” by the
fire, thus, 11(a)634:1,and only one conviction under RSA can be
sustained.

Reversed and remanded.

BROCK, C.J., JJ.,DALIANIS,and BRODERICK and concurred.
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(James DavisKlein, EC., R.Berkson, of KeeneDavis &Bragdon,
Presser, P.C.,Skoler, Springfield,ofbrief), &and Abbotton the

Stubbs, on theRichard U. Jr.Presser and(Jay M.Massachusetts
brief, orally), for the defendant.and Mr. Presser

j. Bliss, ofthe decisionBRODERICK, appealsRobertplaintiff,The
J.) the(Arnold, againsthisdismissing claimSuperiorthe Court

(Stow Mills), discharge.Mills, fordefendant, wrongfulInc.Stow
forto dismissthe defendant’s motiongrantedcourtsuperiorThe

federalthe basis that thesubject jurisdiction onlack of matter
(STAA), codifiedAct of 1982and AssistanceTransportationSurface

(1996 2000), NewSupp. preempts&seq.§§49 31101 etat U.S.C.
reversewrongful discharge.claims for WeHampshire common law

and remand.
Mills, inlocatedfacts are not Stowfollowing disputed.The

Chesterfield, of foods and em-wholesale distributor naturalis a
yearsfor tenplaintiff approximatelythe as a truck driverployed

1993, Mills’in In November Stowdischargedhe was 1994.before
Thedeliveryto select routes.meetingheld their annualdrivers

routeRun #312.” This“Hadleya route called theplaintiff selected
the to deliver to stores in Massachusettsrequired plaintiff products

and Connecticut.
thegoverned byof Stow Mills are STAAtrucking operationsThe
49 U.S.C.Safety regulations.the Federal Motor Carrier Seeand

driversprohibitIn the truckparticular, regulations§ 31136. federal
dutybeen 15 hoursdriving any period havingfrom after on“[f]or

395.3(a)(2).§49 Onfollowing duty.”8 hours off C.F.R.consecutive
occasions, Hadleynotified thatplaintiffnumerous the Stow Mills

federally regulatednot be within thecompletedRun #312 could
plaintiff,to the Stow MillsAccordingfifteen-hour time frame.

Shortlyhim for beforeby blaming being unproductive.responded
heMillsplaintiff1994 drivers’ the told Stowmeeting,the annual

Hadley reportand tono drive Run #312 wouldlongerwould
The plaintiffto federal violations.authorities what he considered be

histerminatingby wrongfullythat Stow Mills retaliatedalleges
employment.

suit, a claim forbrought allegingThe common lawplaintiff
a claim the Protec-wrongful and under Whistleblowers’discharge

(1999 2000). trial courtAct, Supp.275-E & Thetion see RSA ch.
tothe failureupon plaintiff’sthe claim baseddismissed latter

courtSubsequently, the trialadministrative remedies.exhaust
claim, that thewrongful discharge rulingthe plaintiff’sdismissed

on is the trialpreempts appealit. The sole issue whetherSTAA
is as a of law.rulingcourt’s erroneous matterpreemption
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The STAA in requiredwas enacted 1983 and the United States
Department of Transportation HighwayFederal Administration to

safetyestablish extensive forregulations long-haul drivers and
§motor carriers. See 49 U.S.C. The31136. ofprincipal purposes the

regulations promotestatute and its operationare to the safe of
commercial carriers on highways protectinterstate and to the

31131(a).ofsafety §commercial carrier See 49drivers. U.S.C.

violations,In encourageorder to the ofreporting safety the
affordsSTAA drivers who refuse to break the drivelaw or vehicles

they believe to unsafe ofdegree protectionbe some from retaliatory
Inc.,by employers.actions See Brock Roadway Express,v. 481 U.S.

252, (1986); §258 49 U.S.C. 31105. Section 31105 of the STAA states:

—(a) (1) A may dischargeProhibitions. not anperson
employee, disciplineor or against employeediscriminate an

terms, or ofregarding pay, privileges employment, because

(A) the oremployee, person employee’sanother at the
has filed a orrequest, complaint begun a proceeding

to a violation ofrelated a commercial motor vehicle
standard, order,safety regulation, or or has testified

testifyor will in such a orproceeding;

—(B) employeethe refuses to aoperate vehicle because

(i) standard,regulation,the violates a oroperation
order of the United to commercialStates related

health;safetymotor vehicle or or

(ii) employeethe has a reasonable ofapprehension
injuryserious to the or theemployee public because

of vehicle’sthe unsafe condition.

(a)employee allegesAn who a of “mayviolation subsection file a
complaint with of notSecretary daysthe Labor later than 180 after

31105(b).§the alleged violation occurred.” 49 Section 31105U.S.C.
the to be should anprovides procedures followed file suchemployee

complaint. arguesa The that section providesdefendant 31105 the
only means of for an employee alleging wrongfulredress discharge

anyand that similar state is preempted bylaw claim the federal
statutory arguesscheme. The defendant also the plaintiff’sthat
claim cannot it is premised upon public policylie because a created
solely by the federal statute. thereject argument,We latter as our

policy bycase law makes clear that the apublic wrongfulviolated
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Cilleynonstatutory policy.”orstatutoryondischarge “can be based
(1986).401,Inc., N.H. 406Bearings,Ball 128v. N.H.

of theSupremacyunder the Clauselaw is preempted“State
(1) expresses an intentCongresswhere:United States Constitution

(2) lawlaw; bystateCongress implicitly supplantsdisplace stateto
toin a field theregulatory power particulargranting exclusive

(3) actuallylaw conflict.”or and federalgovernment; statefederal
Comm’r,Center, N.H. Correc­Dept.Inc. v.RightsDisabilities of

674, (1999).tions, 676143 N.H.
Smith, (1996), does not696 the defendantin v. 140 N.H.As Mason

preemptingan statementexplicitthat the STAA containsargue
Rather,discharge. thewrongfuluponlaw claims basedstate

statutory proceduresthat specificcontends the STAA’sdefendant
section 31105a and the remedies available underfiling complaintfor

Implied preemptionstate law.implicitly preempt

soregulationfrom a of federalmay be inferred scheme
thatto reasonable the inference Con-pervasive as make

it,for to or wheregress supplementleft no room the States
Act a in federalCongressan of touches field which the

systemthat the federal will beinterest is so dominant
laws sameof on theprecludeassumed to enforcement state

subject.

(1990)Co., 72,496 79 (quotations,v. General ElectricEnglish U.S.
omitted).andellipses brackets

Mason, for wrongful filingIn held that a state law tort claimwe
303(i)byof an is sectioninvoluntary bankruptcy petition preempted

Mason, atof the Code. See 140 N.H. 701.BankruptcyUnited States
claims forplaintiffconcluded that a to state lawallowing pursueWe

uniformity bankruptcythe of lawwrongful filings “would frustrate
by by allowing each to its ownCongressintended State establish

regard filing involuntaryof faith to the ofdefinition bad with
omitted). acknowledging that(quotationId. at 700 Whilepetitions.”

citizens within stateproviding traditionallytort remedies to its is
interest inauthority, maintainingwe found that “the federal

entryover the incentives for into thepenaltiesexclusive control and
paramount.”is Id. at 701. This conclusionbankruptcy system

303(i)a section ofclearly uponrested determination that the
in isBankruptcy “touches a which the federal interest soCode field

to precludedominant that the is enforce-systemfederal assumed
subject.” English,of on at 79.ment state laws the same 496 U.S.

a tourges adopt regardThe defendant us to similar stance in the
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employee protection provisions of section 31105 of the STAA. We
decline to do so.

inWe do not find the federal protectinginterest drivers from
retaliatory dominant,” English, 79,“soactions 496 at thatU.S.
section 31105 of the STAA must found to apreemptbe state law
claim for dowrongful discharge. protectionsNor we find the

inoutlined section 31105 “so as topervasive make reasonable the
Congressinference that left no room for the to supplementStates

it.” Id. that determiningWe are mindful whether a state“[i]n cause
law,of action is by federal our sole is topreempted task ascertain

Co., 203,intent of FordCongress.”the Tebbetts v. Motor 140 N.H.
(1995) (1996).omitted), denied,(quotation207 1072cert. 516 U.S. “If

the field which is haveCongress preemptedsaid to includes an area
traditionally by States,the suchoccupied employmentas or employ­

discrimination, Congress’ment to preemptintent must be ‘clear and
100,manifest.’” v. Beverages,Wenners Great State 140 N.H. 104

(1995) 79), denied,496(quoting English, U.S. at cert. 516 U.S. 1119
(1996)­.

31105(b)§49 that employee “maySection U.S.C. states an file a
complaint Secretarywith the of Labor.” This language permis­is
sive, not and does not state that themandatory, filing Secretarywith

Laborof is the exclusive forum in which to seekemployee’s relief.
(1stCo., 1144,Norris v. Lumbermen’s Mut. Cas. 881 F.2d 1147Cf.

1989) (in finding notCongressCir. did intend that whistle blower
provision of ActEnergy Reorganization preempt state tort law
claim, court noted ofpermissive language provision).

A review legislative historyof the STAA’s anyremoves doubts
regarding impactits intended state forupon wrongfullaw claims
discharge. congressional hearings,During PercySenator raised a

surroundingconcern the effect ofpreemptive the STAA over “other
of mightavenues relief and remedies that be to employeesavailable

contracts,union or statutoryunder or law.” S.common CONG.REC.
32511, 19, Danforth,InDec. Senatorresponse,1982. one of the
principal legislation,authors of the responded that driver“[t]he
protection provisions certainlyof title are mostIV intended to
strengthen, anynot displace, existing employees mayremedies have
at law.” Id.

The regulations 31105implementing expressly recognizesection
maythat an inemployee grievanceseek redress pro-arbitration

ceedings or file complaints agenciesconcurrent with orother
1978.112(a)(1)(A) (2000). Indeed,§“bodies.” 29 C.F.R. the regula-

“[wjheretions complainantindicate that is in fact pursuing[a]
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[31105], the Secre-by sectionprovidedother than thoseremedies
discretion, determi-postponein amay, his or hertary [of Labor]

to ofdefer the resultscomplaintof and[31105]nation the section
1978.112(a)(3). regulations§29 Theproceedings.”such C.F.R.

mayto the bethat a claim related STAAsupport the conclusion
ofDepartmentin than the United Statesbrought a forum other

Labor.
publicthe and trucksafeguardthe is to bothpurposeThe of STAA

highways.dangers by trucking on interstateposeddrivers from the
instate law thiscomplement guidemeant to andThe statute was

area, Parten v.entirelynot the field. See Consolidatedpreemptto
(8th580, 1991);583Corp., Specialized923 F.2d Cir.Freightways

(4th1152,v. F.2d 1153 Cir.of Va.,& Com. 795RiggingCarriers
standards,1986). Indeed, minimum notthe STAA establishes

notsafety regulationfor that does conflictceilings, and allows state
See, 31136-40, Ite.g., §§49 31147. followswith federal law. U.S.C.

protectionthe of section 31105 wereemployee provisionsthat
Further,floor, 31105as a not a section isceiling.intended to act

and no direct orblowers hasprotectingconcerned with whistle
thesafety regulations,on commercial carrier fieldsubstantial effect

which some control.preemptiveover the STAA exercises

reasons, anyFor we not find “clear andforegoingthe do
to state claims forcongressional preemptmanifest” intent law

Wenners, 140 104. awrongful discharge. Accordingly,N.H. at state
byis notwrongful discharge preemptedlaw claim for the STAA. Cf.

(stateat tort which not lie withinEnglish, 496 U.S. 80-86 claims do
field of have no direct andpreempted safetythe nuclear and

Energysubstantial on said field are not thepreempted byeffect
Reorganization protectionAct’s employee provision).

express impliedEven there no or athough may preemption,be
may any law with which it conflicts.supplantfederal statute state

Center, Inc., general,at InRightsSee Disabilities 143 N.H. 676.
solely theynot preempted maystate causes of action are because

federalimpose liability beyond byadditional that authorized law.
Further,at 89. “the of aEnglish, 496 U.S. mere existence federal

scheme, as asregulatory [sectionor enforcement even one detailed
31105], not itself of state remedies.” Id.by imply pre-emptiondoes
at 87.

In 923 E2dFreightways Corporation,Parten v. Consolidated at
582-83, the of held thatEighth Appeals remedyCircuit Court a state

wrongful discharge complementary remedyfor a the STAA]“is [to
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agree.which does not conflict with section Id. at 583.[31105].” We
A wrongful discharge relying uponclaim a violation of section 31105
furthers goal Congress promote public safety highwaysthe of to on
by providing additional toprotection drivers who are fired because

Further,they regulations.refuse to violate federal allowing drivers
to in courtproceed encourages reportstate them to violations and

subject awards,may employer jury beyondthe to substantial
if itcompensatory damages, against report.retaliates drivers who

The economic of aaspect maystate law claim alone induce an
employer investigate allegationsto the driver’s rather than fire the
driver.

thatrecognize split authorityWe there a of on this issue. Theis.
cases which preemptionfavor assume that the STAA is a compre­

scheme,hensive purposesremedial the of which cannot be accom­
plished See,in preempted. e.g.,unless state laws this area are Davis

(N.D.Inc., 513,v. Customized 854 F.Transportation, Supp. 518
Carriers,1994); Inc., 148,Ohio Norman v. M.S. 741 F. Supp. 150

(W.D. 1990); Co., 538,Tenn. Watson v. Cleveland Chair 789 S.W.2d
(Tenn. 1989). fail,544 These cases in inlarge part, engageto a

complete analysis of the statute’s language, regulationsrelated and
We, therefore,legislative history. jurisdictionsconcur with the that

hold that wrongful dischargestate law claims for not preemptedare
See,by e.g., Co.,the STAA. v.Germann Vulcan Materials 106 F.

(S.D.1010, 2000);Supp. 2d 1015 Cal. TNT BestwayWhitworth v.
(E.D.Inc., 1434, 1996); Parten,Transp., Supp.914 F. 1436 Tex. 923

atF.2d 583.
turnbriefly argumentWe to the defendant’s that where a

exists,statutory remedy no common law cause of canaction lie. “[A]
plaintiff may pursuenot a common law remedy legislaturewhere the

Wenners,replace statutoryintended to it with a cause of action.”
140 N.H. at 103. The defendant asserts that the has aplaintiff

and, therefore,remedy under section 31105 no common law claim for
Here,wrongful candischarge lie. our preemption analysis includes

a detailed examination expressof the and intent ofimplied Congress
and we find it unnecessary to revisit the same issue under the
common law rule cited in Wenners.

Reversed and remanded.

BROCK, C.J., DALIANIS, JJ., concurred;and NADEAU and
HORTON, J., retired, 490:3,specially assigned under RSA con-
curred.


